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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA - WESTERN DIVISION

CYBERsitter, LLC, a California limited
liability company,

Plaintiff,

V.

Google Inc., a Delaware corporation;
ContentWatch, Inc., a Utah corporation,

d/b/a Net Nanny; and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.

CASEEIN, 12" 5293 "ESU(/

COMPLAINT FOR: [A:SZ‘@

1. DIRECT AND CONTRIBUTORY
TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT
(15 U.S.C. § 1125(A))

2. DIRECT AND CONTRIBUTORY
TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE
14200 ET SEQ.)

3. FALSE ADVERTISING
(15 U.S.C. § 1125(A))

4. FALSE ADVERTISING
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE
17500)
S. UNFAIR COMPETITION
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE
17200)
6. UNJUST ENRICHMENT

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
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Plaintiff CYBERsitter, LLC (“CYBERsitter” or “Plaintiff”) alleges, on
information and belief, as follows:
NATURE OF THE ACTION

1.  This is an action for trademark infringement, false advertising, unfair

competition and unjust enrichment against defendants Google Inc. (“Google”) and
ContentWatch, Inc. d/b/a Net Nanny (“CWI” or “Net Nanny/CWI”) (collectively,
“Defendants”).

2.  The claims herein stem from Defendants’ unauthorized misappropriation
of Plaintiff’s “CYBERSITTER” trademark, and the false and misleading use of that
mark in paid advertisements for Plaintiff’s competitors’ products, including as part of
Google’s AdWords advertising platform. The Defendants named herein intentionally
and wrongfully used a bait and switch strategy to confuse consumers into purchasing a
competing product, namely, by using the CYBERSITTER trademark in false
advertising to attract consumers, then selling the consumers the Net Nanny/CWI
product once they had been wrongfully misdirected to defendant’s website. Through
this misappropriation, defendant Net Nanny/CWI has attempted to capitalize on and
siphon off the goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s CYBERsitter product. Defendant
Google has willfully participated in, facilitated and encouraged these acts for its own
financial gain. This action seeks to put an end to Defendants’ illegal conduct, to
recompense Plaintiff for the damages it has suffered, and to restore the profits that

Defendants have gained through their false and deceptive advertising practices.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1121(a) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338 and 1367.
4. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants

conduct business in this District, Defendants have taken unlawful actions that have
caused injury to Plaintiff in this District, and defendant Google is a citizen of the State
of California.
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5.  Venue is proper in the Central District of California pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1391(a)(2) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to
the claims occurred within this District and a substantial part of the property that is the
subject of the action is situated within this District.

6. Defendants, at all relevant times, have had actual knowledge that
CYBERsitter was located in the Central District of California, and that their
infringement of CYBERsitter’s mark would damage CYBERsitter in the Central
District of California.

THE PARTIES
7. Plaintiff CYBERsitter is a limited liability company organized and

existing under the laws of the State of California, with its principal place of business
in Santa Barbara, California. CYBERsitter is engaged in the business of software
development and sales. In particular and as relevant here, CYBERsitter developed,
markets and sells the Internet content filtering program known as “CYBERsitter.”

8.  Defendant Google Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the
laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business located in Mountain
View, California. Google is one of the world’s largest providers of Internet search
engine services. (oogle also solicits and sells advertising to be displayed in
conjunction with the keyword searches conducted by Google’s users.

9.  Defendant ContentWatch, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing
under the laws of the State of Utah, with its principal offices located in Salt Lake City,
Utah. CWI does business, inter alia, under the name “Net Nanny,” which it has
registered as a d/b/a with the Utah Secretary of State. As relevant here, CWI is
engaged in the business of marketing and selling an Internet content filtering software
program known as “Net Nanny.” Plaintiff is informed and believes that CWI
purchased the rights to the name “Net Nanny” and other associated intellectual
property in or about 2007, pursuant to an asset purchase agreement with CWI’s
predecessor in interest, LookSmart, Ltd. (“LSL”), a Delaware corporation with its
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principal place of business in San Francisco, California.

10. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or
otherwise, of Defendants sued herein as DOES 1-10, inclusive, are unknown at the
present time and Plaintiff therefore sues said DOES and each of them by such
fictitious names. If necessary, Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this
complaint to allege their true names and capacities when they are ascertained.

11. Unless otherwise indicated herein, on information and belief, each of
DOES 1-10, inclusive, participated in the activities described herein and rendered
material assistance to the other Defendants in the actions alleged herein, conspired and
agreed with and aided and abetted one or more of the other Defendants and at all
relevant times each of the Defendants was the principal or agent, partner, independent
contractor, loan-out company, servant and/or employee of at least one other of the
other Defendants and all of the acts performed by them or omissions alleged herein
were made in the course and scope of their employment, agency, partnership or other
such relationship and with knowledge, consent, approval and/or ratification of the
principals and each of them. Unless otherwise indicated herein, each of the parties
herein named as DOES 1-10 are responsible in some manner or fashion and is liable
and responsible on the facts alleged herein for all the relief sought.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
The CYBERsitter Software and the “CYBERSITTER” Mark

12. CYBERsitter is a family-owned software company based in Santa
Barbara, California. CYBERsitter markets and sells various software products,
including an Internet content filtering software program known as “CYBERsitter.”
The CYBERsitter program, which was created by CYBERsitter’s principal, Brian
Milburn, was designed to help parents protect their children from viewing
inappropriate pornographic and violent content on the Internet.

13. The CYBERsitter program was first introduced to the public in 1995. It

3
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was the first Internet content filtering program to be marketed and sold to the public.
Since its introduction in 1995, the CYBERsitter program has been continuously
marketed and sold to the public by CYBERsitter.

14.  When the CYBERsitter program was first introduced, the program was
initially sold to consumers in a CD form. Over time, however, CYBERsitter
transitioned from physical sales model to an Internet download model. As of today,
CYBERsitter no longer sells physical copies of the CYBERsitter program. The
product is now sold by CYBERsitter exclusively on its website,
www.CYBERsitter.com, at a cost of $39.95 per copy.

15. As aresult of CYBERsitter’s marketing and sales efforts over the past 17
years, CYBERsitter has become one of the most recognizable names in Internet
content filtering, perhaps the most recognizable. It is used by parents, schools and
businesses around the globe. CYBERsitter now boasts over two million active
CYBERsitter users worldwide. The CYBERsitter program has won numerous
awards, including winning PC Magazine’s prestigious Editor’s Choice Award five
times.

16. As a result, the “CYBERSITTER” mark has come to be well-known
amongst consumers throughout the United States and throughout the world.
CYBERsitter is the owner of trademark rights in the CYBERSITTER mark.
Defendants, at all relevant times, have had actual and constructive knowledge that the
CYBERSITTER mark is a trademark developed, used and owned by CYBERsitter.
Indeed, Defendants’ actions alleged herein were intentionally designed to trade upon
the goodwill associated with the CYBERSITTER mark.

The Google “AdWords” Advertising Platform and Policies

17.  Google is one of the world’s leading Internet search engines. Google’s
search engine operates by providing users who enter certain “keywords” with a
catalogue of web pages and links responsive to their keyword search.

18.  Google’s primary source of revenue comes from paid advertisements that
4
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Google displays on its search engine, as well as on other websites for which Google
provides sponsored ads. In response to Google keyword searches, Google displays
paid advertising results called “sponsored links” in conjunction with the other search
results. The Google “sponsored links” appear both at both the top and bottom of the
search results for a given keyword search.

19. The paid ads are displayed in a format virtually identical to that of the
non-paid results — they are displayed with a webpage caption highlighted in blue,
followed by a URL address highlighted in green, followed by a description of content
from the site, which (for some entries only) is followed by a beige arrow pointing to
other potentially related links. The only apparent distinction between the paid ads and
the natural search results is that the paid ads are highlighted in yellow and there is a
small banner above them indicating that the sponsored links are “Ads” related to the
keyword search.

20. In or about 2000, Google launched a paid advertising program know as
the “AdWords” program. The AdWords program allows sponsors to purchase certain
keywords that will trigger the sponsor’s advertisement whenever a user conducts
searches using the keywords.

21.  Until 2004, Google’s internal trademark policies forbade the use of any
trademark not owned by the sponsor as a sponsor’s keyword. The policies also
forbade the use of trademarks not owned by a sponsor in the context of the sponsor’s
advertisement itself.

22. In or about 2004, however, Google changed its internal trademark
policies to permit the use of third-party trademarks as keywords, even in cases in
which the mark’s owner objected to the use. This change was based in part upon
Google’s internal studies that showed that its advertising revenues would increase if it
permitted broader use of third-party marks, although the studies also noted that
permitting the use of third-party marks would increase the likelihood of trademark
infringement claims by third parties. Google nevertheless maintained its prohibition
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23. In or about 2009, however, Google once again reevaluated and changed
its internal trademark use policies. This time Google decided to permit the use of
third-party trademarks even in the context of a sponsor’s advertisement itself, even
over the objections of the trademark owner. This change was also based upon
Google’s own internal studies that showed that allowing broader use of third-party
trademarks would increase Google’s profits, while also noting that permitting the use
of third-party marks in advertising would increase the likelihood of trademark
infringement claims by third parties. By effecting this change in policy, Google took
a calculated risk of permitting and facilitating potential trademark infringement in
order to increase its profits.

24. Today, Google’s AdWords program permits third-party trademarks to be
“auctioned” off to the highest bidder for use in Google’s paid advertising program,
even over the objections of the trademark owner. Google’s advertisers bid
competitively to jockey for the highest page placement when Google users search for
a competitor’s trademarks. Google itself suggests trademarks and other keywords to
its advertisers to use as triggers for the paid ads. The highest bidders then pay Google
on a “cost-per-click” basis, whereby Google receives a fee whenever a Google user
clicks on the sponsored link. Google thus has a financial incentive to entice its users
to click on the sponsored links rather than on the ordinary search results, from which
Google gets nothing.

25.  While Google’s policies now permit and encourage the use of third-party
marks both as keywords and in the paid advertisements themselves, Google’s policies
nevertheless limit the use of third-party trademarks in paid advertisements to
situations in which the sponsor (a) is a reseller of the trademarked product or service,
(b) makes component parts of the trademarked product or service, (c) offers
compatible parts for the trademarked product or service, or (d) provides information

or reviews about the trademarked product or service. Pursuant to these policies,
6
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Google has taken steps to ensure compliance with these limitations on the use of third
party marks, including, but not limited to, using automated search devices and/or
human searches to ensure that any sponsored link that advertises a product for sale
actually sells that product on the site to which the Google ad is directed.

The False Ads Displayed as Part of the Google AdWords Program

26. In the years after CYBERSsitter was introduced to the public, several other
commercial content-filtering programs entered the market. Among these was a
program developed and marketed by defendant CWI’s predecessors in interest. The
program, called “Net Nanny,” was first introduced to the public in the mid-1990’s.
Over the years, the makers of Net Nanny became one of CYBERsitter’s primary
competitors.

27.  Earlier this year, CYBERsitter’s president, Brian Milburn, learned that
Google and CWI, as part of Google’s AdWords platform, were running paid
advertisements for the Net Nanny program that incorporate and utilize the
CYBERSITTER trademark (the “False Ads”). Upon investigation, the False Ads
were displayed by Google whenever a user would search for the term
“CYBERSITTER” or similar terms on the Google search engine. Each of the False
Ads made false, misleading, confusing and unauthorized use of the CYBERsitter
mark. The False Ads were often displayed as the first result in a user’s search for the
term “CYBERSITTER,” as well as in similar and related searches incorporating the
term. Plaintiff is further informed and believes that a disproportionate percentage of
Google users click on the first result in a user search. CYBERsitter at no time
authorized either Google or Net Nanny or any other party to use the CYBERsitter
mark in connection with the False Ads.

28. As but one example, one of the False Ads bears the caption
“CYBERsitter | Net Nanny.com.” The text of this False Ad urges prospective
consumers to: “Protect your child with #1 rated CYBERsitter software. Just $29.99!”
Similar False Ads target Mac users with the caption, “Mac CYBERsitter | Net
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Nanny.com,” and similar text stating: ‘“Protect your child with #1 rated Mac
CYBERsitter software. Save 25%!” There are several False Ads containing similar
text and format. Plaintiff is informed and believes that defendant CWI owns and
controls the NetNanny.com website.

29. The False Ads make verifiably false statements on their face. On
reasonable investigation, the CYBERsitter program has never been offered for sale on
the NetNanny.com website. = CYBERsitter has never given permission or
authorization to any party to sell the CYBERsitter program on the NetNanny.com
website. Moreover, upon reasonable investigation, the Net Nanny website does not
sell any product at a price of $29.99. The False Ads thus violate Google’s own
trademark use policies on their face, as the False Ads do not fall within any of the four
permitted uses of third party trademarks set forth in Google’s policies: CWI’s paid ads
advertise CYBERsitter for sale on the NetNanny.com website, but the product is not
for sale on the site.

30. The False Ads not only make verifiably false statements and violate
Google’s own trademark use policies, the False Ads are also highly misleading and
likely to cause consumer confusion. The False Ads create the false perception of an
association between CYBERsitter and Net Nanny/CWI, and mislead consumers as to
the source and sponsorship of the CYBERsitter program. Consumers are wrongly led
to believe that the CYBERsitter program is made by, associated with or sponsored by
Net Nanny/CWI and/or that the Net Nanny program is made by, associated with or
sponsored by CYBERsitter. This perception has been created intentionally by
Defendants, including through the design and use of the “CYBERsitter | Net
Nanny.com” caption of the False Ads, the touting of CYBERsitter as the “#1 rated”
program in the context of a Net Nanny/CWI advertisement, and the false statement
that CYBERsitter is for sale on NetNanny.com — its competitor’s website. Consumers
are likely to believe that the Net Nanny program is the CYBERsitter program, or is a
joint program sold by both CYBERsitter and Net Nanny, or that CYBERsitter and Net

8
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Nanny/CWI have merged into one company and/or create common products. This is
particularly true of consumers who click on the False Ads, but find only the Net
Nanny program for sale on the sponsored website. Indeed, there has been at least one
instance of actual confusion as to the source or origin of CYBERsitter’s goods, as
CYBERsitter has received at least one query based on the False Ads asking whether
CYBERsitter had merged with Net Nanny/CWI.

31. This confusion is increased by the fact that, the rights to the “NET
NANNY” mark and associated marks were purchased in or about 2007 by defendant
CWI as part of an asset purchase agreement with CWI’s predecessor in interest, LSL.
CWI also has its own content filtering software product known as “ContentWatch.”
While Net Nanny and ContentWatch are associated products, CYBERsitter is not
associated with either of them and they are, in fact, CYBERsitter’s competitors.
Making matters worse, CWI also runs joint advertisements of the ContentWatch and
Net Nanny programs through the Google AdWords platform that are strikingly similar
to the False Ads. The ads are captioned “Content Watch Net
Nanny | ContentWatch.com,” and they advertise “Easy to Install and Manage Content
Watch Net Nanny.” These advertisements are designed to blur the distinction
between ContentWatch and Net Nanny in a similar manner as the False Ads were
designed to blur the distinction between Net Nanny and CYBERsitter. However, any
suggestion of association or sponsorship between Net Nanny and CYBERsitter is
false.

32. The False Ads have caused damage to Plaintiff in the form of lost sales,
lost profits, lost license revenues, consumer confusion and loss of goodwill among the
consuming public from the false and misleading perceptions that Google and CWI
have created through the False Ads. In addition, Defendants have further been
unjustly enriched though their violation of Plaintiff’s rights, receiving fees, sales,
revenues and a transfer of the goodwill of CYBERsitter’s customers as a result of their

illegal conduct.
9
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT — 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a))

Against Defendants Google and DOES 1-10
33. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1

through 32 as if fully set forth herein.

34. Plaintiff possesses a valid mark entitled to protection under the Lanham
Act, 15 US.C. §§ 1051 ef seq. — namely, the CYBERSITTER mark.

35. Defendants Google and DOES 1-10 (collectively, the “Google
Defendants”) have used the CYBERSITTER mark, as well as confusingly similar
marks such as “CYBER SITTER” (collectively, the “CYBERSITTER marks”), in
commerce, including but not limited to: (i) by incorporating and displaying the
CYBERSITTER marks in the text and/or title of paid advertisements that Google
posts in conjunction with its users’ keyword searches for the CYBERSITTER marks;
(i1) by selling the right to use the CYBERSITTER marks to third parties as part of
Google’s paid advertising programs, including in the AdWords platform; (iii) by
displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in close proximity to third party advertisements
when its users search for the CYBERSITTER marks, and doing so in a manner that
creates a likelihood of confusion amongst consumers of the products; and (iv) by
displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in Google’s proprietary directory for use in
Google’s paid advertising programs.

36. The Google Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks is likely to
cause consumer confusion, or to cause mistake and/or deceive consumers as to the
affiliation, connection, or association of Plaintiff’s goods and services and/or the third
party goods and services in conjunction with which the Google Defendants use the
CYBERSITTER marks. The Google Defendants’ unlawful use of the
CYBERSITTER marks is likely to cause consumers to believe, falsely, that
CYBERsitter’s goods and services are created, sponsored by and/or affiliated with
third parties or third party goods and services; and/or that third party goods and

10

COMPLAINT




FAYER GIPSON LLP

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

e ! I a

services are created, sponsored by and/or affiliated with CYBERsitter or its goods and
services.

37. The Google Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks complained
of herein is not and has never been authorized by Plaintiff. The Google Defendants
used the CYBERSITTER marks with the knowledge of and indifference to Plaintiff’s
rights to the CYBERSITTER marks.

38. The Google Defendants’ unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER marks was
intentional, willful, and with reckless disregard and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights.
Indeed, the Google Defendants’ unlawful acts were undertaken with the express
purpose of encouraging and directing users searching for Plaintiff’s CYBERsitter
product to visit the websites of Plaintiff’s competitors in order to increase the Google
Defendants’ advertising revenues.

39. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and the Google Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched
in an amount to be determined at trial.

40. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, the Google
Defendants will continue to engage in conduct violative of the Lanham Act. Plaintiff
is entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT - 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a))
Against Defendants CWI and DOES 1-10

41. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1

through 40 as if fully set forth herein.
11
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42. Plaintiff possesses a valid mark entitled to protection under the Lanham
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 ef seq. — namely, the CYBERSITTER mark.

43. Defendants CWI and DOES 1-10 (collectively, the “CWI Defendants”
have used the CYBERSITTER mark, as well as confusingly similar marks such as
“CYBER SITTER,” in commerce, including but not limited to: (i) by incorporating
and displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in the text and/or title of advertisements for
the CWI Defendants’ competing goods and services, which the CWI Defendants pay
Google to display in conjunction with keyword searches for the CYBERSITTER
marks; and (i1)) by causing the CYBERSITTER marks to be displayed in close
proximity to the CWI Defendants’ advertisements when Google users search for the
CYBERSITTER marks, and doing so in a manner that creates a likelihood of
confusion amongst consumers of the products.

44, The CWI Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks is likely to
cause consumer confusion, or to cause mistake and/or deceive consumers as to the
affiliation, connection, or association of Plaintiff’s goods and services and/or the third
party goods and services in conjunction with which the CWI Defendants use the
CYBERSITTER marks. The CWI Defendants’ unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER
marks is likely to cause consumers to believe, falsely, that CYBERsitter’s goods and
services are created, sponsored by and/or affiliated with third parties or third party
goods and services; and/or that third party goods and services are created, sponsored
by and/or affiliated with CYBERsitter or its goods and services.

45. The CWI Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks complained of
herein is not and has never been authorized by Plaintiff. The CWI Defendants used
the CYBERSITTER marks with the knowledge of and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights
to the CYBERSITTER marks.

46. The CWI Defendants’ unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER marks was
intentional, willful, and with reckless disregard and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights.
Indeed, the CWI Defendants’ unlawful acts were undertaken with the express purpose

12
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of encouraging and directing users searching for Plaintiff’s CYBERsitter product to
visit websites on which the CWI Defendants’ competing goods and services are
offered in order to increase the CWI Defendants’ revenues and siphon off the
goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s goods and services.

47. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and the CW1 Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched in
an amount to be determined at trial.

48. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, the CWI Defendants
will continue to engage in conduct violative of the Lanham Act. Plaintiff is entitled to
preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(CONTRIBUTORY TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT - 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a))

Against Defendants Google and DOES 1-10
49. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1

through 48 as if fully set forth herein.

50. With full knowledge of CYBERsitter’s rights, the Google Defendants
have knowingly facilitated and materially contributed to third party infringements of
CYBERsitter’s trademark rights in violation of the Lanham Act, including but not
limited to: (i) by encouraging and facilitating third parties, including the CWI
Defendants, to use the CYBERSITTER marks in paid advertisements in a false and
misleading manner; (ii) by facilitating, encouraging and assisting in the incorporation
and display of the CYBERSITTER marks in the text and/or title of paid
advertisements that the Google Defendants post in conjunction with their users’

13
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keyword searches for the CYBERSITTER marks, including the False Ads; (ii1) by
selling the right to use the CYBERSITTER marks to third parties, including the CWI
Defendants, as part of the Google Defendants’ paid advertising programs, including in
the AdWords platform; (iv) by displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in close
proximity to third party advertisements when Google users search for the
CYBERSITTER marks in a manner that creates a likelihood of consumer confusion;
and (iv) by displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in Defendants’ proprietary directory
in order to encourage and facilitate the unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER marks in
the Google Defendants’ paid advertising programs.

51. The Google Defendants knew or should have known that the underlying
infringing acts that they facilitated and to which they contributed are likely to cause
consumer confusion, or to cause mistake and/or deceive consumers as to the
affiliation, connection, or association of Plaintiff’s goods and services and/or the third
party goods and services in conjunction with which the Google Defendants use the
CYBERSITTER marks.

52. The Google Defendants’ facilitation of and material contribution to the
CWI Defendants’ infringing acts was willful, intentional, and with the knowledge of
and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights in the CYBERSITTER marks. Indeed, the
Google Defendants’ unlawful acts were undertaken with the express purpose of
encouraging and directing users searching for Plaintiff’s CYBERsitter product to visit
the websites of Plaintiff’s competitors in order to increase the Google Defendants’
advertising revenues.

53. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and the Google Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched
in an amount to be determined at trial.

54. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
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irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, the Google
Defendants will continue to engage in conduct violative of the Lanham Act. Plaintiff
is entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT —

CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 14200 ET SEQ.)
Against Defendants Google and DOES 1-10

55. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1
through 54 as if fully set forth herein.

56. Plaintiff possesses a valid mark entitled to protection under California
Business and Professions Code Sections 14200 et seq. (hereinafter, “California
Trademark Act”) — namely, the CYBERSITTER mark.

57. The Google Defendants have used the CYBERSITTER mark, as well as
confusingly similar marks such as “CYBER SITTER” in commerce, including but not
limited to: (i) by incorporating and displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in the text
and/or title of paid advertisements that Google posts in conjunction with its users’
keyword searches for the CYBERSITTER marks; (ii) by selling the right to use the
CYBERSITTER marks to third parties as part of Google’s paid advertising programs,
including in the AdWords platform; (iii) by displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in
close proximity to third party advertisements when its users search for the
CYBERSITTER marks, and doing so in a manner that creates a likelihood of
confusion amongst consumers of the products; and (iv) by displaying the
CYBERSITTER marks in Google’s proprietary directory for use in Google’s paid
advertising programs.

58. The Google Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks is likely to
cause consumer confusion, or to cause mistake and/or deceive consumers as to the
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affiliation, connection, or association of Plaintiff’s goods and services and/or the third
party goods and services in conjunction with which the Google Defendants use the
CYBERSITTER marks. The Google Defendants’ unlawful use of the
CYBERSITTER marks is likely to cause consumers to believe, falsely, that
CYBERsitter’s goods and services are created, sponsored by and/or affiliated with
third parties or third party goods and services; and/or that third party goods and
services are created, sponsored by and/or affiliated with CYBERsitter or its goods and
services.

59. The Google Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks complained
of herein is not and has never been authorized by Plaintiff. The Google Defendants
used the CYBERSITTER marks with the knowledge of and indifference to Plaintiff’s
rights to the CYBERSITTER marks.

60. The Google Defendants’ unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER marks was
intentional, willful, and with reckless disregard and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights.
Indeed, the Google Defendants’ unlawful acts were undertaken with the express
purpose of encouraging and directing users searching for Plaintiff’s CYBERsitter
product to visit the websites of Plaintiff’s competitors in order to increase the Google
Defendants’ advertising revenues.

61. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and the Google Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched
in an amount to be determined at trial.

62. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on

that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, the Google
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Defendants will continue to engage in conduct violative of California law. Plaintiff is
entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT —
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 14200 ET SEQ.)

Against Defendants CWI and DOES 1-10
63. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1

through 62 as if fully set forth herein.

64. Plaintiff possesses a valid mark entitled to protection under California
Business and Professions Code Sections 14200 et seq. — namely, the CYBERSITTER
mark.

65. Defendants have used the CYBERSITTER mark, as well as confusingly
similar marks such as “CYBER SITTER,” in commerce, including but not limited to:
(1) by incorporating and displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in the text and/or title
of advertisements for competing goods and services, which Defendants pay Google to
display in conjunction with keyword searches for the CYBERSITTER marks; and (i)
by causing the CYBERSITTER marks to be displayed in close proximity to
Defendants’ advertisements when Google users search for the CYBERSITTER marks,
and doing so in a manner that creates a likelihood of confusion amongst consumers of
the products.

66. Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks is likely to cause
consumer confusion, or to cause mistake and/or deceive consumers as to the
affiliation, connection, or association of Plaintiff’s goods and services and/or the third
party goods and services in conjunction with which Defendants use the
CYBERSITTER marks. Defendants’ unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER marks is
likely to cause consumers to believe, falsely, that CYBERsitter’s goods and services
are created, sponsored by and/or affiliated with third parties or third party goods and
services; and/or that third party goods and services are created, sponsored by and/or
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67. Defendants’ use of the CYBERSITTER marks complained of herein is
not and has never been authorized by Plaintiff. Defendants used the CYBERSITTER
marks with the knowledge of and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights to the
CYBERSITTER marks.

68. Defendants’ unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER marks was intentional,
willful, and with reckless disregard and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights. Indeed,
Defendants’ unlawful acts were undertaken with the express purpose of encouraging
and directing users searching for Plaintiff’s CYBERsitter product to visit websites on
which Defendants’ competing goods and services are offered in order to increase
Defendants’ revenues and siphon off the goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s goods
and services.

69. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and the CWI Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched in
an amount to be determined at trial.

70. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, the CWI Defendants
will continue to engage in conduct violative of California law. Plaintiff is entitled to
preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(CONTRIBUTIORY TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT —
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 14200 ET SEQ.)
Against Defendants Google and DOES 1-10

71. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1
18
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through 70 as if fully set forth herein.

72.  With full knowledge of CYBERsitter’s rights, the Google Defendants
have knowingly facilitated and materially contributed to third party infringements of
CYBERsitter’s trademark rights in violation of California law, including but not
limited to: (i) by encouraging and facilitating third parties, including the CWI
Defendants, to use the CYBERSITTER marks in paid advertisements in a false and
misleading manner; (ii) by facilitating, encouraging and assisting in the incorporation
and display of the CYBERSITTER marks in the text and/or title of the paid
advertisements that the Google Defendants post in conjunction with their users’
keyword searches for the CYBERSITTER marks, including the False Ads; (iii) by
selling the right to use the CYBERSITTER marks to third parties, including the CWI
Defendants, as part of the Google Defendants’ paid advertising programs, including in
the AdWords platform; (iv) by displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in close
proximity to third party advertisements when Google users search for the
CYBERSITTER marks in a manner that creates a likelthood of consumer confusion;
and (iv) by displaying the CYBERSITTER marks in Defendants’ proprietary directory
in order to encourage and facilitate the unlawful use of the CYBERSITTER marks in
the Google Defendants’ paid advertising programs.

73. The Google Defendants knew or should have known that the underlying
infringing acts that they facilitated and to which they contributed are likely to cause
consumer confusion, or to cause mistake and/or deceive consumers as to the
affiliation, connection, or association of Plaintiff’s goods and services and/or the third
party goods and services in conjunction with which the Google Defendants use the
CYBERSITTER marks.

74. The Google Defendants’ facilitation of and material contribution to the
CWI Defendants’ infringing acts was willful, intentional, and with the knowledge of
and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights in the CYBERSITTER marks. Indeed, the
Google Defendants’ unlawful acts were undertaken with the express purpose of
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encouraging and directing users searching for Plaintiff’s CYBERsitter product to visit
the websites of Plaintiff’s competitors in order to increase the Google Defendants’
advertising revenues.

75. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and the Google Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched
in an amount to be determined at trial.

76. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, the Google
Defendants will continue to engage in conduct violative of California law. Plaintiff is
entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(FALSE ADVERTISING - LANHAM ACT § 43(a))

Against All Defendants
77. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1

through 76 as if fully set forth herein.

78. Defendants have made false and misleading statements in the False Ads
concerning Plaintiff’s products and services and their association with or sponsorship
by Net Nanny/CWI. Such statements include Defendants’ statements advertising the
CYBEREsitter product for sale on the Net Nanny/CWI website (e.g., ‘Protect your
child with #1 rated CYBERsitter software. Just $29.99!”) and the misleading
suggestion that the Net Nanny/CWI website is affiliated with CYBERsitter (e.g.,
“CYBERsitter | Net Nanny.com”).

79. Defendants knew or should have known, through the exercise of

reasonable care, that such statements were untrue and misleading.
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80. Defendants’ false and misleading statements deceive and/or have the
capacity to deceive a substantial segment of Plaintiff’s potential customers, and do so
in a material manner that is likely to influence the purchasing decisions of Plaintiff’s
potential customers, including by inducing potential customers to purchase the
products and services of Plaintiff’s competitors by creating a false impression of an
association between those products and services and Plaintiff’s own.

81. Both Plaintiff’s products and services and Defendants’ products and
services are sold in interstate commerce.

82. Defendants jointly participated in and aided and abetted one another in
making the false and misleading statements alleged herein and knowingly participated
in the creation, development and propagation of the False Ads.

83. Defendants’ violations were intentional, willful, and with reckless
disregard and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights.

84. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched in an amount
to be determined at trial.

85. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, Defendants will
continue to engage in conduct violative of the Lanham Act. Plaintiff is entitled to
preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(FALSE ADVERTISING - CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 17500 ET SEQ.)
Against All Defendants

86. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1
21
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through 85 as if fully set forth herein.

87. Defendants have made untrue and misleading statements in the False Ads
concerning Plaintiff’s products and services and their association with or sponsorship
by Net Nanny/CWI. Such statements include Defendants’ statements advertising the
CYBERsitter product for sale on the Net Nanny/CWI website (e.g., “Protect your
child with #1 rated CYBERsitter software. Just $29.99!”) and the misleading
suggestion that the Net Nanny/CWI website is affiliated with CYBERsitter (e.g.,
“CYBERsitter | Net Nanny.com”).

88. Defendants knew or should have known, through the exercise of
reasonable care, that such statements were untrue and misleading.

89. Defendants’ untrue and misleading statements deceive and/or have the
capacity to deceive a substantial segment of Plaintiff’s potential customers, and do so
in a material manner that is likely to influence the purchasing decisions of Plaintiff’s
potential customers, including by inducing potential customers to purchase the
products and services of Plaintiff’s competitors.

90. Defendants jointly participated in and aided and abetted one another in
making the untrue and misleading statements alleged herein and knowingly
participated in the creation, development and propagation of the False Ads.

91. Defendants’ violations were intentional, willful, and with reckless
disregard and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights.

92. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has suffered and will continue to suffer
damages and Defendants have been and continue to be unjustly enriched in an amount
to be determined at trial.

93. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
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that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, Defendants will
continue to engage in conduct violative of California law. Plaintiff is entitled to

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(UNFAIR COMPETITION — CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 17200 ET SEQ.)
Against All Defendants

94. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1
through 93 as if fully set forth herein.

95. Defendants, through the conduct alleged herein, have engaged in and
continue to engage in unlawful, unfair, and/or fraudulent conduct in violation of
Section 17200 et seq. of the California Business and Professions Code. Defendants
have also engaged in and continue to engage in conduct that is deceptive, untrue and
misleading in violation of California Business and Professions Code, Section 17500,
which also constitutes a violation of Section 17200.

96. The unlawful conduct in which Defendants have engaged and continue to
engage includes violations of Plaintiff’s trademark rights under federal law and
California state law, and acts of false and deceptive advertising in violation of
Plaintiff’s rights under federal law and California state law, as alleged above.

97. Defendants’ violations were intentional, willful, and with reckless
disregard and indifference to Plaintiff’s rights.

98. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, CYBERsitter has been deprived of money that was
wrongfully paid to Defendants, but, absent Defendants’ violations, would have
otherwise been due to CYBERsitter. CYBERsitter is entitled to restitution of such
sums as would otherwise have been owed or paid to CYBERsitter, in amounts to be
determined at trial.

99. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,

Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
23
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irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, Defendants will
continue to engage in unlawful and wrongful conduct in violation of California law.
Plaintiff is entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(UNJUST ENRICHMENT)
Against All Defendants

100. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations made in paragraphs 1
through 99 as if fully set forth herein.

101. Defendants, through the conduct alleged herein, have received the
benefits of the use and exploitation of Plaintiff’s trademarks and of Plaintiff’s
goodwill.

102. Defendants have unjustly retained the benefits of their use and
exploitation of Plaintiff’s trademarks and of Plaintiff’s goodwill at Plaintiff’s expense.

103. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the conduct and
omissions alleged above, Defendants have been unjustly enriched through the use and
exploitation of Plaintiff’s trademarks and of Plaintiff’s goodwill and has been
deprived of money that was wrongfully paid to Defendants, but, absent Defendants’
violations, would have otherwise been due to CYBERsitter. CYBERsitter is entitled
to restitution of any and all such sums in an amount to be determined at trial.

104. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiff has sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, including without
limitation the loss of consumer goodwill. Plaintiff is informed and believes and on
that basis avers that unless enjoined and restrained by this Court, Defendants will
continue to engage in unlawful and wrongful conduct in violation of California law.
Plaintiff is entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, plaintiff CYBERsitter respectfully requests that the Court enter

Jjudgment against Defendants as follows:

A.  For an award of damages caused by Defendants’ unlawful conduct in an
amount to be ascertained at trial, including damages accruing from Plaintiff’s lost
sales, lost licensing royalties and loss of goodwill;

B. For an award of Defendants’ profits stemming from their unlawful
conduct in an amount to be ascertained at trial;

C.  For an award of amounts necessary and sufficient to compensate Plaintiff
for the cost of corrective advertising in an amount to be ascertained at trial;

D.  For restitution of Defendants’ ill-gotten gains and such sums as would
otherwise have been owed or paid to Plaintiff absent Defendants’ violations of law, in
an amount to be ascertained at trial;

E.  For treble damages pursuant to the Lanham Act;

F.  For prejudgment interest thereon;

G.  For an accounting of Defendants’ profits derived by Defendants from the
sale of goods or services associated with the acts of infringement and false advertising
complained of herein;

H.  For preliminary and permanent injunctive relief;

L. For Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs of suit incurred in this action; and
J. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
DATED: June 18, 2012 FAYER GIPSON LLP

GREGORY A. FAYER

ZGREGORY A, EAVER
Attorneys for Plaintifi ERsitter, LLC
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff hereby requests a trial by jury.

DATED: June 18,2012 FAYER GIPSON LLP
GREGORY A. FAYER

—

ER
Attorneys for Plaintiff CYBERsitter, LLC
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amended; plus all claims filed for child’s insurance benefits based on disability. (42 U.S.C. 405(g))

863 DIWW All claims filed for widows or widowers insurance benefits based on disability under Title 2 of the Social Security
Act, as amended. (42 U.S.C. 405(g))

864 SSID All claims for supplemental security income payments based upon disability filed under Title 16 of the Social Security
Act, as amended.

865 RSI All claims for retirement (old age) and survivors benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended. (42
US.C.(g)
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